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A NOTE ON NAMES



The names of many places on the Indian subcontinent have changed since the events described in this book. For the sake of clarity I have stuck to those that were in use among English speakers at the time they were writing: Bombay for Mumbai, Madras for Chennai, and Calcutta for Kolkata being the most obvious examples. For less commonly known places, or where the sources are very old, I have either silently corrected their spellings, or included their modern equivalents in brackets afterwards, such as Cawnpore (Kanpur), Oudh (Awadh) and Plassey (Palashi).


Where the names of individual women are concerned, I have tried, where style allows, to avoid infantilising them by using only their first names. Hence, for example, I refer to ‘Flora Annie Steel’, or ‘Mrs Steel’, rather than merely ‘Flora Annie’. No historian that I am aware of has ever referred to Warren Hastings as ‘Warren’.





PREFACE



On a sultry midsummer night, 22 June 1782, a young Englishwoman named Charlotte Hickey was rowed across the bay of Lisbon to take up her passage on board the Raynha de Portugal, a vessel bound for the East Indies.


Mrs Hickey and her husband, William, had come directly from a farewell dinner and a ball given in their honour by the British Ambassador to Lisbon, Mr Walpole, and his wife. All the English residents of any standing had assembled at their residence to bid the couple goodbye, and the party had still been going strong at two o’clock in the morning, when the ambassador himself had insisted on lending them his private barge on which they were now being rowed, still in full evening dress, across the moonlit bay.


Everything about Mrs Hickey, from her expensive silk gown and elaborately dressed and powdered hair to the soberly clad lady’s maid who accompanied her, marked her out as a lady of high fashion. Her husband, a thirty-two-year-old attorney in the employ of the East India Company, was returning to India after a leave of several years. He too was clearly a man of means, although his preferred costume – a gaudily embroidered scarlet velvet banian coat, with a profusion of spangled and foiled lace at the neck and cuffs – might have raised an amused eyebrow or two had he dared to wear it down Bond Street.


William Hickey had taken pains to arrange the most comfortable accommodation possible for his new wife, on what was her first voyage to India. He secured for her not only the state cabin on board the Raynha de Portugal, but also the luxury of an adjoining cabin for her maid, Harriette, which would double as Charlotte’s dressing room, and every other convenience besides.


Carpenters had been busy for the last few weeks fitting up their quarters with all the furniture they would require for the year-long voyage: a bed, closets, even a writing desk. William had also taken the precaution of laying down a generous supply of the finest wines available to help pass the time. (Madeira is said to have been especially popular on the long voyages to India, as a good tossing on the high seas was thought to improve its taste.)


Although we do not know exactly what was going through Mrs Hickey’s mind as she boarded the Raynha de Portugal that night, one of her feelings was likely to have been that of relief. For, ever since she had left London six months previously, she had been playing a part. For all the glamorous outward show, Charlotte was not the gentlewoman she appeared to be. She was not, in fact, even Mrs Hickey, but Charlotte Barry, one of London’s most notorious courtesans.


The first leg of her journey had involved travelling under conditions of the utmost secrecy. To avoid being seen together (William’s relatives had an unfortunate habit of popping up when they were least expected) the couple had taken the precaution of travelling from London to the coast in separate carriages. En route they had passed the night in Exeter in a ‘hotel’,* one of the first of its kind in England, hoping to find it a more discreet establishment than a smaller and more gossipy wayside inn.


The most risky part of their enterprise, however, had been boarding the packet from Falmouth to Lisbon. Charlotte Barry may have been Hickey’s ‘darling girl’, whom he considered a paragon among women; but to almost everyone else she was no better than a common prostitute. Despite leaving behind a string of rich protectors and a fashionable address in Queen Anne Street, she was a woman whose tarnished reputation was such that no ‘respectable’ woman would have tolerated her presence, and the ship’s captain, had he had any inkling about her past, would have had no hesitation in refusing her passage. A Portuguese captain, however, on board a Portuguese ship was likely to be far less vigilant than one employed by the East India Company.


Since leaving London, in January that year, Charlotte Barry had successfully passed herself off as ‘Mrs Hickey’ in mixed company several times. In Lisbon, where many dyspeptic and otherwise convalescent English went to enjoy the mild climate, she seems to have pulled it off with equal aplomb, although ‘disrespectful’ gossip about her was already beginning to circulate among their acquaintances. It was not until she embarked on the Raynha de Portugal that hot June night to set sail for India that her true transformation would take place. Stepping on to the vessel as plain Charlotte Barry, she would step off it the other end in Calcutta as Mrs Hickey, a married lady of unimpeachable virtue, ready to take a full place in Calcutta society.


So far away from home, surely no one would be any the wiser?





 


________________


*This was almost certainly the Royal Clarence Hotel. According to Hickey, the word hotel was ‘a term then little known in England, though now in general use, every dirty little coffee house in London being dignified with the name of hotel!’ He was writing in 1810 (see The Memoirs of William Hickey).





INTRODUCTION



I first came across the story of Charlotte Barry almost twenty years ago.


I was writing a book about eighteenth-and nineteenth-century English courtesans, and had turned to the diaries of William Hickey, the man whose wife Charlotte would one day pretend to be, as part of my research. Hickey’s memoirs of a riotously dissipated youth among the fleshpots of late eighteenth-century London proved to be an enormously entertaining source of information, but not all of it was germane to my book.


The young William’s debauchery and extravagance had eventually reached such a pitch that his despairing family decided that something had to be done. As did so many families with dissolute, bankrupt or otherwise badly behaved offspring, they packed him off to India to seek employment with the East India Company. Once in Calcutta, Hickey was overjoyed to meet many of his former school-fellows and drinking partners, most of whom had also been sent there by their families, and for exactly the same reasons, whereupon the party continued more or less as before – except it was hotter, and there was even less parental control.


Apart from leaving an interesting question mark over what English society in India was like at this period, the story of Charlotte Barry was a distraction from my theme. Her life seemed to have more to do with travelling and adventure than it did with the hothouse world of London’s demi-monde. Regretfully, I put her story aside.


It was not until many years later, when I came to research this book, that I began to wonder about Charlotte Barry again. The sheer improbability of her story – not to mention her dazzling chutzpah in carrying it off – had stayed with me. It made me question all my assumptions about the conventional world of the British memsahib. What had become of her, I wondered. Had she survived that terrible voyage, which included not only being captured by the French, but also being shipwrecked after a violent hurricane literally blew the Raynha de Portugal to bits? Had she really managed to reinvent herself, once and for all, as ‘Mrs Hickey’, and become the darling of English society in Calcutta – if there even was such a thing in the 1780s?


To my great surprise, and on all counts, the answer was yes.


The history of Englishwomen in India has turned out to be not at all what I was expecting it to be.


Before I began, I had thought that I already knew something about British memsahibs. As a child I had once spent an unusual amount of time looking at photographs of them. I was aged about eleven and at boarding school in England for the first time when I was befriended by an elderly relative of my father’s, who turned out to live nearby. Phyllis was the second or third wife of a distant Hickman cousin. I remember my parents, who lived abroad, alluding vaguely to the fact that she had once been some sort of Gaiety Girl, a dancer or possibly an actress on the London stage. Even as an eleven-year-old I was aware of a faint but exhilarating whiff of the demi-monde about her (although I would not have known to call it by that name). Her husband, who had something to do with horses and racing – a world of which I was equally ignorant – was frequently away from home, and it occurs to me now that Phyllis was probably as lonely as I was. It would certainly explain why she took so much trouble over an unknown little girl.*


Even in a family such as mine, blessed with more than its fair share of eccentrics, Phyllis was odd. She was a tiny woman, no more than five feet tall, who arrived one Sunday afternoon at my school in an old Humber of such antiquity it was amazing she had managed to get it on to the road at all. Despite the fact that it was a warm day she was wearing a fur coat and a pair of enormous tinted spectacles, which gave her a faintly Cruella de Vil-ish air, an impression that was greatly magnified the moment she began driving. Although she could barely see over the steering wheel, we screeched off at terrifying speed through the tiny Buckinghamshire lanes, with me hanging on, as best I could, to the door strap.


When we arrived at her house, she took me into her sitting room in which my entertainment for the afternoon – the first of many – had been set out. Photograph albums, most of them very old, lay across every conceivable surface. They contained the usual family portraits and gatherings, and one or two boasted some stage memorabilia, but the ones I remember best were the photographs taken in India.


These showed Edwardian ladies in flowing white lace sitting about languidly on the verandas of their bungalows. Sometimes these same women (for somehow it was always the women who stood out) were in shooting parties, or on elephants, or picnicking by rivers. Other pictures had been taken at various clubs, and featured hearty outdoor pursuits: tennis, croquet and golf. There were very few Indians in these images. Sometimes there was a solitary bearer standing behind a chair, or a turbaned syce (groom) holding a horse’s reins; but the presence of scores of other servants could be felt, hovering just out of sight: the punkah-wallah (the servant who pulled the fan strings), the ayah (nanny or lady’s maid), the dhobi (washerman). There were photographs of children, too, miniature versions of their parents all dressed alike in jodhpurs and sola topis. None of them was older than six or seven since it was at that age that English children were always sent home to school (how I sympathised!). In the vacuum left by these older siblings were potted palms and tiger skins, and a pervasive air of melancholy.


Unlike the groups of women I have written about in the past – English courtesans of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries (Courtesans), and women married to British diplomats (Daughters of Britannia), about whom very little was generally known – when I came to research this book I found that absolutely everybody had an opinion on the subject.


Usually, it was the same opinion. For example, everyone knew that the widening of the cultural divide between the British and Indians was entirely due to the increasing numbers of women who made their way to India on the ‘fishing fleets’ of the late nineteenth and twentieth centuries. Everyone knew it was the women who had somehow poisoned that which had come before (never very clearly defined). Everyone knew that if it were not for the snobbery and racial prejudice of the memsahibs there would, somehow, have been far greater harmony and accord between the races.


This queasy view of British women in India, which Phyllis’s photos seemed to uphold, has proved extraordinarily difficult to dislodge. In the last thirty years there have been a handful of histories that have attempted to present a more nuanced account of women’s experiences, but the stereotype persists. The perception that everything was the fault of the memsahibs remains stubbornly embedded in our consciousness. Why is this? I do not mean to suggest that prejudice of every kind – racial, social, imperial, religious – did not cloud many aspects of British involvement in India. It did. But neither was it invariably the case. Even the most cursory reading of the archives suggests a far more complex story, and one that goes back much further than we might think.


The testaments left behind by these women reveal an incredible range of experiences and responses to India. Many, it is true, were bored or frightened or sometimes even repelled by cultures and peoples they never fully understood; but just as many delighted in their experiences there. Yet whatever their qualities were as individual human beings, the context in which they lived out their lives is a vexed one for the modern historian. Except for the very earliest to venture to the subcontinent, these women were members of a colonising race, and it is impossible for our judgement of them not to be coloured by this fact. While having no agency themselves in the land-grabbing ventures of the East India Company, they rapidly became part of the system that it created. It was their men – their husbands, brothers and sons – who from the mid-eighteenth century onwards carved up the subcontinent and took it for their own.


It is striking how few of them, if any, questioned their right to be there, and perhaps it would be anachronistic to hope otherwise. Very few of Henrietta Clive’s contemporaries would have thought it at all strange, let along wrong, when in 1800 she wrote: ‘What a wonderful people we are really, having command of the whole world. It makes me very proud of being an Englishwoman.’ Even Fanny Parkes, that most enthusiastic and open-minded lover of all things Indian, seems never to have questioned the British presence there. Most of them, particularly in the later part of the nineteenth century, believed that they were doing good by being there. They were convinced, quite genuinely, not only that the Empire they helped to build was a benevolent one, but also that most Indians – not that they were ever asked – must think so too.


We know better today. Or do we? In his recent book, Inglorious Empire, the Indian historian Shashi Tharoor has accused the British public of being ‘woefully ignorant of the realities of the British empire, and what it meant to its subject peoples1,’ and goes on to cite what he sees as a ‘yearning for the Raj’ in the success of the recent television series Indian Summers, which built upon earlier ‘Anglo-nostalgic productions’ such as The Far Pavilions and The Jewel in the Crown: comforting narratives, perhaps, but ones that, on their own, no longer hold good. More importantly still, Tharoor goes on to summarise, to devastating effect, what many critics of Empire have been pointing out for decades: that the rule of the British Government during the period of the Raj was, if anything, even more detrimental to the material and social flourishing of India than the excesses and corruption of the East India Company before it. The Raj was run by the British, for the British (by which, naturally, he means British men).


It is important to remind ourselves that before the mid-nineteenth century, there was no Raj; and yet the first British women to travel to India did so in the very early seventeenth century, nearly two hundred and fifty years previously. What of them? Just as there is a tendency to think that race relations between Britain and India were largely the fault of the women who went there, so there is a tendency to think of memsahibs as one historically homogeneous group; as having sprung, fully formed, into the clubs, bungalows and hill stations of the imperial high noon. But the very first British women to set foot on Indian soil bear no resemblance to the languid Edwardian ladies that had so fascinated me as a child. These women were tough adventurers, every bit as intrepid as their men, the quarrelsome, buccaneering sea captains and traders in whose wake they followed. Their voyages to India were extraordinarily daring leaps into the unknown.


Women made their way to India for exactly the same reasons that men did: to carve out a better life for themselves. They did so under the auspices of the East India Company, a British trading entity that began its life as a handful of tiny mosquito-infested trading posts along the Indian littoral – at Surat (in present-day Gujarat), Bombay, Madras and Calcutta. One day, the Company would swell to become the world’s most powerful paramilitary corporation, de facto ruler of most of the subcontinent, but in the seventeenth century, and for most of the eighteenth, it was no such thing. In fact, its mettle was for many years tested, and found wanting, when pitted against the far more successful Dutch and Portuguese traders in the spice islands of modern-day Indonesia. English attempts to establish footholds in India were initiated largely as a result of their failures elsewhere.


In those early days, India was the British ‘Wild East’: a hunting ground in which vast fortunes could be made; the slates of ‘blotted pedigrees’ wiped clean; bankrupts given a chance to make good; a taste for adventure satisfied. There were – as the story of Charlotte Hickey shows – almost endless possibilities for reinvention.


It is well known that as often as not women went to India either to follow husbands or to fish for them (and why wouldn’t they, in a world in which, according to conventional wisdom, marriage was the only career available to them). What is almost completely unknown is that from the seventeenth century onwards large numbers of them also worked there as independent women in their own right: as milliners, bakers, dressmakers, actresses, portrait painters, maids, shopkeepers, governesses, teachers, boarding house proprietors, midwives, nurses, missionaries, doctors, geologists, plant-collectors, writers, travellers and – most surprising of all – even traders.


One of the very first women to travel to India, Mrs Hudson, who arrived in the great Mughal port of Surat in 1617, brought with her the considerable sum of £100 (around £24,000 in today’s money) with which to invest in the indigo trade, but was rebuffed by the East India Company factors, eager to protect their monopoly. They allowed her to trade in cloth instead.


Later, they would have more success. ‘Women drove as large a trade as men, and with no less judgement,’ wrote one observer in Madras in the eighteenth century. ‘Nay . . . some are so forward as to have invoyces, accounts current etc, in their own names, though their husbands are in being.’2 The she-merchant was already a familiar, not to say formidable, figure by this time. During the Restoration, Constance Pley ran an extremely successful business dealing in the canvas cloth used for sailing boats. ‘Pray be punctual with her,’ wrote a fellow merchant, ‘she being as famous a she-merchant as you have met with in England one who turns and winds thirty thousand pounds a year.’3 Women were also able to acquire shares in the East India Company itself, and the records are full of references to the women who invested in goods, and claimed their dividends. There were fifty-six female shareholders by the end of the seventeenth century; and less than a hundred years later more than 16 per cent of all EIC stock was owned by women, who attended shareholder meetings, and had their say on any issues put to the vote, on exactly the same footing as men.4


In the 1760s a woman known as ‘Poll Puff’ was a familiar figure on the streets of Calcutta. She derived her name from the exquisitely light apple puffs for which she was famous. Each day Poll would take up her position at the gateway to one of the English schools in Calcutta, an overflowing basket on her arm. She would sell her puffs for three half-pence, a trade she was to follow ‘for upwards of thirty years, growing grey in the service’.5 Poll Puff became such a beloved fixture among the English in Calcutta that in her declining years a group of her former customers – including the hard-living, hard-drinking, rackety young attorney and future diarist William Hickey – clubbed together to buy her an annuity ‘so as to provide the necessary comforts for her in old age’, but, prudently, and after much discussion, not so much ‘as to encourage the vice of dram drinking to excess, to which she was known to be addicted’. (Something of an irony, given their own prodigious capacity for alcohol.)


Hickey’s diaries are unusual – and fascinating – because he loved women and often wrote about them, even quite humble ones such as Poll Puff. This is not the case with most histories of the British in India, even the most up-to-date ones, which have an annoying habit of confining women’s experiences to just one chapter, usually a rather short one, and invariably tucked away at the back. Luckily, the ten miles of archives that there are said to be in the India Office section of the British Library proved to contain an extraordinarily rich collection of female voices.


Most of these are domestic documents, by which I mean diaries, letters and memoirs, some published, many still in manuscript form, the majority of them intended only for private readership. They are addressed for the most part to friends, family, children and grandchildren, and range from a single letter – such as the one, fragile, elfin-sized (three-by four-inch) note, covered in almost illegible sepia copperplate, written by Lady Sale when in captivity near Kabul during the First Afghan War – to the two gold-embossed volumes of diaries published as Our Viceregal Life in India, written by the Vicereine, the Marchioness of Dufferin and Ava, in the 1880s.


Collectively, they make up a narrative that is very different from the one we have been used to, and a great deal longer. While we might, quite rightly, criticise them as colonisers, in the early days of the East India Company that is not how they thought of themselves. With the success of the Company often balanced on a knife-edge, most women’s lives in India were far rougher, ruder – in both senses of the word – and a great deal less secure than we might imagine.


For several centuries they were a vulnerable, alien people in a world that was often hostile to them. Elizabeth Marsh, her palanquin surrounded by a mob of howling, sword-wielding Marathas on her travels through south India in 1773, or Margaret Fowke, the daughter of a diamond merchant, writing home anxiously from Calcutta in the 1780s in what she was convinced were the last days of Company rule in the subcontinent, would have been astonished to think that a queen of England would one day pronounce herself Empress of India.


In 1909, the novelist Maud Diver published a book, The Englishwoman in India, which made a sympathetic case for those women whose lives, with all their dangers and difficulties, were so little understood at home. ‘English men and women in India are, as it were, members of one great family, aliens under one sky,’ she wrote. ‘Their social conditions have been handed down to them from the days when India practically meant life-long banishment; and so long as they hold by these India will be a pleasant friendly land, even though it be a land of exile.’6


But how did this ‘one great family’ and the social conditions that ruled it – with its brutal hierarchies, its Warrant of Precedence, its codes of etiquette more rigid than anything that women would experience at ‘home’ – come about? How did the tiny band of tough women adventurers, who in the seventeenth century chanced their all to follow their men to the Wild East, evolve into the many hundreds of women, in full court dress, who were received in Delhi by the Vicereine, Edith Lytton, during the celebrations that pronounced Queen Victoria Empress of India? What were their lives really like? What was their relationship to the vast country, and its people, that they would, bit by bit, take as their own?


Above all, who were they, and how had they come to be there at all?





 


________________


*Phyllis turns out to have been a real celebrity in her day. Known as ‘The Great Broadcasting Star’ in the 1930s, she sang with Henry Hall’s Band and went on to star in several films.





PART ONE
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THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY:


‘A Series of Preposterous Gambles’


In which the East India Company is founded in 1600, and its first tiny trading posts are established along the Indian littoral, including factories at Surat, Calcutta and Madras – William Hawkins travels to the court of the Mughal Emperor at Agra to negotiate trading rights, and finds one of the most opulent and sophisticated courts in the world – the first three English women arrive in Surat – Charles II acquires the archipelago of Bombay from his Portuguese wife, Catherine of Braganza, and in 1668 the Company leases it from the Crown, thereby acquiring its first sovereign Indian possession.
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CHAPTER 1


‘Before I pass the equinoctal, I am to acquaint your Honours and Worships with a strange accident which hath happened contrary I do think to any of your expectations.’


The source of this unwelcome news was Nathaniel Salmon, master of the New Year’s Gift, one of a small convoy of East India Company ships making the voyage from London to Surat, in present-day Gujarat, in 1617. The ‘accident’ he was referring to concerned a woman named Frances Webb, who together with her fellow countrywoman Mrs Hudson, had somehow succeeded in being granted permission to travel to India as companions to Mrs Towerson, the wife of an East India Company captain.


Already, by virtue of her sex, an unwelcome addition to the voyage, it transpired that Frances Webb had smuggled another, even less welcome passenger on board. ‘One of the gentlewomen which came with Captain Towerson and his wife is great with child,’ Nathaniel Salmon continued in his letter to the East India Company directors in London on 9 July, hardly believing the news himself, ‘and at this present is so big that I fear that if she have not twins she will hardly hold out to Surat. But the best is she hath a father for it in the fleet, yet none aboard the Gift, (where haply it might be judged, were not the contrary known) but aboard the Anne.’


The father of the unborn stowaway was discovered to be Richard Steele, an unusually intrepid English merchant, even in that great age of seafaring entrepreneurs, who had obtained permission to travel out to India with Captain Towerson. Steele, it transpired, had been secretly married to Frances Webb ‘under a palm tree’ on one of the convoy’s stop-offs on the voyage, ‘and since the acknowledgement of it hath been resident aboard our ship’. The Towersons, apparently, had been as ignorant of Frances’s condition as anyone else, until it could no longer be concealed. Mr and Mrs Steele (as from now on Frances Webb would be referred to in the East India Company records) had machinated to get the Towersons to ‘entertain’ her on board the Gift (in other words, to sponsor her journey), and were clearly – and somewhat ludicrously, given how long the voyage was likely to be – hoping that her condition could be kept secret until their arrival in India: ‘but that her belly told tales,’ Salmon noted acerbically in his report, ‘and could no longer be hid under the name of a timpany’.1


In the early seventeenth century, the English presence in India began with the arrival of a handful of quarrelsome, drunken, sea-and battle-hardened sailors. They had no thought of territorial conquest. They looked only for trading opportunities; thought only of their share, even if it were only a few crumbs, of a global market that was then dominated by the far greater powers of Portugal, France and Holland.


For in 1616, when Frances Webb first set sail into the unknown, the British were the underdogs in terms of world trade. For a long time it looked as though they would stay that way. Knowing, as we do, the outcome of history, it is tempting to see the Raj as an immutable and inevitable fact, but the East India Company with which it all began, and which on many occasions so nearly failed in its endeavours, stands out, in the words of the historian John Keay, ‘as a robust association of adventurers engaged in hazarding all in a series of preposterous gambles’.2


And when it came to preposterous gambles, their women were not going to be left out. Mrs Towerson, Mrs Hudson and Mrs Steele were not the first Englishwomen to set foot on Indian soil, but they are the first for whom a narrative of any significance can be traced;* and their stories, even in these very early days of a British presence in India, contain all the seeds of women’s experiences there over the next three hundred and fifty years. By this I mean not only the usual women’s lot of love, marriage and childbirth, but almost always, it seems to me, something far more robust: the quest for a better life and a fearless spirit of adventure.


What else could possibly have induced them to go? In 1616 the voyage alone, let alone the unknown perils they might find when they got there, was as lengthy and dangerous as a voyage into outer space might be today. For safety’s sake, ships sailing from England did so in small flotillas, although circumstances often separated them. The New Year’s Gift, a ship of 867 tons (about the size of three double-decker buses), sailed in company with three sister ships: the James Royal (1000 tons), the Anne Royal (700 tons) and the Bee (150 tons). Even in convoy, they were prey to many dangers: not only to storms, shipwrecks, piracy and attacks by their trading competitors, but also to the winds themselves on which sailing ships depended, which could sweep them as far west as the northern shores of South America before they were able to round the Cape of Good Hope. The vagaries of the winds meant that journeys regularly took a year or more. The New Year’s Gift, which set forth from Gravesend on 4 February 1616, did not arrive in Surat until 20 September 1617.


It is hard to imagine what resilience it must have taken to survive those nineteen months at sea. Although none of the women on board the Gift have left a written account of their voyage, women in later years left plenty of such descriptions. The conditions they describe, endured over such a long time, are almost unimaginably awful. Sea captains were reluctant to take female passengers at all (they considered them to be unlucky), and often confined them to the very lowest decks, where it was more usual to house the terrified horses, dogs and other animals which would have been taken on the journey.


Treated like so much livestock themselves, these early travellers were obliged to endure living conditions in which there was little or no air or light, and ceilings so low that they were never able to stand upright. These miserable quarters were especially the lot of lower-class women who, unlike their betters, could not afford to pay for a share of a more decent cabin. There was no privacy. And, if unmarried, no escape from predatory, sex-starved sailors.


In a feeble attempt to allow the air to circulate in these lower decks, women were forbidden to hang up blankets or linen as screens during the day, so they were obliged to eat, sleep, dress, undress and even use the ‘necessary’ under the gaze of their fellow passengers. Sanitary arrangements amounted to a few buckets, which regularly spilt over when the weather was rough, flooding the floor space with vomit and other effluvia until the fetid air became no more than ‘a sickening, foul, repulsive breath’. Even trips on to the deck, to breathe some sea air and take some exercise, were often seriously limited, or even forbidden, by some misogynist captains. Eliza Fay, who travelled to India and back again three times in the mid-eighteenth century, recounted how on her voyage home in 1784 the captain of the ship only allowed her and her six female travelling companions to go on deck five times over the course of a sixteen-month voyage. And pity the poor woman whose story was recounted by Henrietta Clive in a letter to her brother sent from Madras in 1799. This unfortunate had apparently taken a passage from Deal to Portsmouth, on a ship whose captain then decided not to stop off in Portsmouth at all, but to head straight for Madras. ‘Think of anybody coming to the East Indies by mistake!!!’ she wrote in horror.3


Under these conditions, disease was rife. John Jourdain, an East India Company merchant of the early 1600s, recounted how he went to meet one ship in Batavia (modern-day Jakarta) expecting an enthusiastic welcome from his countrymen, only to be met by an eerily deserted and silent vessel. With the exception of four factors, ‘all of them like ghosts of men freighted’, everyone else on board had died from the ‘bloody flux’ (dysentery). ‘I demanded for the General and all the rest of our friends in particular; but I could not name any man of note but was dead, to the number of 140 persons; and the rest remaining were all sick, these four being the strongest of them and they scarce able to go on their legges.’4


Mrs Towerson, Mrs Hudson and Mrs Steele survived both the seas and sickness, and made it safely to Surat, where after the dangers of the voyage, Frances Steele was almost immediately confronted with the greatest danger of all. ‘Mrs Steele shortly after her sea travel travailed on shore, and brought forth, to the no small joy of her husband, a goodly young son,’ reported one of the factors, Edward Monox, to the East India Company directors in London, adding with the typical self-interest of the Company man, ‘of whom you may hope one day to have as good service as that from his father’.5


It was possibly the last charitable thing anyone had to say about Frances Steele. Even with two husbands to shield them, the women found themselves in a hostile all-male environment in which ‘drunkenness, dicing and swearing’ were the norm – and where absolutely nobody was pleased to see them.


The truth was that the addition of three women and a baby to the tiny English community on the Gujarati coast was extremely disagreeable to everyone, and they made no bones about it. The East India Company ‘factory’ (so-called, although nothing was actually made there) at Surat was, in those early days, a communal, almost monastic affair, run much along the lines of an Oxford or Cambridge college. No one was cheered by a set of new fresh faces from England, even female ones. Instead, everyone grumbled loudly at the thought of three extra mouths to feed. And everyone wanted someone else to blame.


A flurry of bad-tempered correspondence ensued, between the various factors at Surat and Ahmedabad* and the English ambassador, Sir Thomas Roe, who was then following the Mughal Court on one of its progresses, trying in vain to coax a trading agreement out of the Emperor Jahangir. Their initial complaints were mostly about the expense of these women and the disruption they would cause in the all-male community. Edward Monox, who had been the first to inform the East India Company of the birth of Baby Steele, was quick to rub in the state of confusion that prevailed after the women’s arrival: ‘the house being so pestered with them, and Captain Towerson and their retinue,’ he wrote, ‘that for my own part during my abode there I had neither chamber to lie in nor place to write in, which caused me unwillingly to omit duties which otherwise I should have performed’.


In the end the newcomers took matters into their own hands, and very sensibly acquired a separate property in which to house themselves. This did not go down well either. ‘I hope the house kept apart is at their own charge,’ grumbled Thomas Roe to Thomas Kerridge, the most senior merchant at Surat, ‘for I perceive not that the Company intended to keep their families . . . If I find any fault it is at you,’ he continued, ‘that will suffer Mr Steele to run out at the beginning, to take the Company’s money to lay out for a house, or to waste in his expense anyway. If he will be vain, let him do it at his own cost. For, roundly, I will not allow any extraordinary charge for his wife, and therefore I pray reckon with him.’


Others blamed the situation on Roe himself. William Biddulph, an English merchant based at Ahmedabad, wrote a letter of complaint to the Company directors in London, roundly criticising the ambassador for not getting rid of both Steele and his wife immediately. ‘[It is] an article of your commission’, he reminded them, ‘that whoever shall have a wife in these parts shall upon knowledge thereof be forthwith dismissed of his place and service and sent home.’


While it was true that the Company directors explicitly forbade its factors to take their wives with them, it was not a decision they had taken lightly. A man’s wife was held to be ‘very fitting for the quiet of his mind and the good of his soul, as a curse befalleth those that keep man and wife asunder’, but there were other more important considerations. Although the records show that they debated the question three times, the good of the Company won out over the good of their employees’ souls, and once they had made up their minds, there was no turning them. Even EIC veterans such as Thomas Keeling, one of the captains on the Company’s third voyage to the Indies in 1607, could not persuade them to bend the regulations. Although he wrote ‘wonderful many arguments and requests to have his wife sent unto him or permit him to come home (in what fashion so ever)’6 all fell upon deaf ears. Mrs Keeling had at one point even smuggled herself aboard her husband’s ship, but was discovered while still in English waters, and ignominiously sent back to shore.


Thomas Roe, having left his own new bride back in England after only seven weeks of marriage, was of the same view as the directors. ‘I desire noe weomans company,’ he declared, ‘but labour to leave such incumberances behind.’ Now he took the decision that the only thing for it was to try to persuade Frances Steele to leave as soon as possible. ‘I know not his means; but if the Company gave her not leave as his wife I will not consent she shall be a charge upon them, nor travel this way,’ he wrote to Thomas Kerridge. ‘I pray advise him to take such a course as I be not enforced to see his fault. To this purpose I have dealt freely with [Mr Steele], to let him see the inconveniences that will follow us, the charge to him, the displeasure of the Company, all of which will be restored by a good course, to persuade [Mrs Steele] to return home, which I have prevailed so far in as that his own reason hath drawn his consent and to that end promised his endeavour to satisfy the gentlewoman, whom I am sorry for.’7


Then, perhaps realising that plain reason might not be enough, he offered an inducement. ‘If she return and he stay I will do him all kindness according to his desert, and recommend her to the Company’s care. Excuse what is past, but let them not smart for it that are innocent. You that have the Company’s purse must order it. Money is dear ware in India. I would have you use her and Captain Towerson with courtesy,’ he wrote, but could not help adding anxiously, ‘but not live upon you, lest they stay too long.’8


A month later he was writing to Kerridge again. ‘I know Mr Steele as well as any other. I hope he will be comfortable and his own friend . . . ’ he wrote, adding in a rather more flinty tone, ‘His wife will be ruled, and will return; and therefore consider her sex. Use her lovingly, assist her, and lend her all fit comforts.’9


Roe’s appeals were all in vain. After more than a year and a half cooped up on the Gift, Frances Steele had no intention of returning home. Besides, she and her husband had other plans. Their ambition was not to remain in Surat at all, but to travel to Agra with the Towersons, where Richard Steele had ambitious plans to design waterworks for the Mughal Emperor’s city – to which end he had brought out with him on the Anne a number of English ‘artificers’. Gabriel Towerson, a veteran of several previous East India Company expeditions, and a captain of the Hector in 1611, was also intending to trade on his own account. His wife, Maryam, as we shall see, was crucial to this enterprise.


As for Mrs Hudson, the records are almost silent about her, except in one respect: once she had arrived in India, she had the audacity to think that she too could trade in her own right, with the £100 she had brought with her. ‘I received Mrs Hudson’s desires for herself,’ Roe added. “Her demand is to have the Company’s [indigo] for money, or to invest it for her.’ In the end they decided, grudgingly, that she might invest not in indigo, but in cloth. ‘She may be lucky as a calling duck,’ wrote Thomas Roe with heavy irony, ‘and therefore try her.’*10


If the expense and the bother of having women present were not enough, their presence also had an undesirable effect on the other men. One of these, a Mr Goulding, who had been the preacher on board the Anne, seems to have lost his head completely. At this point an already unstable and thoroughly bad-tempered situation descended into what can only be described as farce.


‘When the gentlewomen were to depart from Surat to goe to [Agra], he [Mr Goulding] was strangely importunate with me to give him leave to goe,’ reported the sea captain Matthew Duke to the overall commander of the 1617 fleet, Captain Pring. ‘[This request] I utterly denied, commanded him to stay, and gave charge to Mr Kerridge [the chief factor at Surat] to stop his passage.’


Maddened with lust, the preacher was clearly not going to be deflected from his scheme to follow the women to Agra. ‘For a day or two he dissembled his intent,’ Duke fumed, ‘in which time he fitted himself secretly with Moores apparel, which being procured and all thinges else fitt for a fugtive hee takes his leave of Mr Kerridge, pretending to come aboard the Anne.’11


What became of Mr Goulding is not known. His ‘Moores’ disguise seems not to have fooled anyone, however, as in February 1618 Thomas Roe was writing to Captain Pring to say that the unfortunate Goulding had been apprehended, and would forthwith be packed off back to Surat again in disgrace.


Maryam Towerson, under whose protection Mrs Hudson and Mrs Steele had both travelled on the New Year’s Gift, is a shadowy but extraordinary figure in the history of early women in India. An Armenian Christian from Agra, she became, through a series of extraordinary events, the wife of not one, but two, East India Company captains.


Maryam’s first husband, whom she married in 1609, was William Hawkins. The captain of the Hector on the East India Company’s third voyage to ‘the Indies’*, Hawkins almost certainly belonged to the great seafaring dynasty of Devon Hawkins, a quiverful of Richards, Williams and Johns whose extraordinary and pioneering voyages ranged from exploring the coasts of Brazil in the reign of Henry VIII to fighting alongside Francis Drake against the Spanish Armada.


Whatever his family history, William Hawkins belonged to the aristocracy of English mariners. For all this, it is hard to imagine how a rough English sea captain from a tiny, unknown and as yet entirely insignificant European island could have made any kind of impression on the perfumed, jewel-encrusted, silken majesty of the Mughal Emperor, but somehow Hawkins seems to have managed it. All that we know about him – including his unlikely marriage – has come down to us by the greatest good chance: the manuscript of the journal which he wrote during his travels in India was for a long time thought to have been lost, only surfacing in the British Museum in the late nineteenth century.


Hawkins’s presence in India was, from the very start, a highly vulnerable one. Arriving in Surat on 28 August 1608, he was very soon left to his own devices by the rest of his countrymen, who almost immediately pushed off with the rest of the fleet to Bantam, in present-day Indonesia, leaving him alone with just one other merchant to try his luck at the Mughal Court. His mission: to secure the right to set up a trading post on the Indian coast, where he hoped, among other things, to buy the lightweight Indian cottons that could be taken to Indonesia and exchanged for spices. Hawkins’s only companion, a merchant named William Finch, within weeks succumbed to ‘the bloody flux’ and was ‘not able to stirre abroad to doe any business’. Hawkins’s only other support during his time in India were his two servants, ‘a cook and my Boy’.


‘These were the [only] companie I had,’ Hawkins wrote, ‘to defend ourselves from so many enemies, which lay lurking to destroy us, aiming at me for the stopping of my passage to the great Mughal.’ They were formidable enemies. Not only the Portuguese, who had been profitably established in Surat for some time, and who did not take at all kindly to the thought of the English muscling in on their trade, but also the Mughal officials, who fleeced Hawkins at every opportunity of both money and goods, and had no compunction about playing off one European trader against another (which they did most successfully). When Hawkins complained, specifying the peace that now existed between England and Portugal, and insisting that he should be allowed freely to go about his business, the Portuguese factors scoffed at him. ‘These Seas belonged unto the King of Portugal,’ they insisted, ‘and none ought to come here without his licence.’ In addition, ‘they most vilely abused his Majesties, terming him the King of Fishermen, and of an Island of no import, and a fart for his commission’.


Hawkins, however, was nothing if not resourceful. Despite ‘so many enemies, who daily did nothing else but plot to murther me, and cosen me of my goods’ (there were at least two attempts on his life while he was in Surat), he eventually managed to get permission to travel to Agra, the Mughal capital, making the journey in some style having secured a guard of fifty horsemen to accompany him there – ‘valiant Pattens [Pathans] a people much feared in these parts: for if I had not done it, I had beene over-throwne’.12


Protected by his bodyguard of Pathan warriors, Hawkins finally arrived in Agra – ‘after much labour, toyle, and many dangers’ – on 16 April 1609. As ‘Embassadour’ from King James I, with suitable letters of credence, he was quickly taken to see the Emperor – so quickly, in fact, that the travel-stained Hawkins was almost wholly unprepared for the audience. Hearing of his arrival, the Emperor ‘presently charged both Horsemen and Footmen in many troupes . . . commanding his Knight-Marshall to accompany me with great state to the Court, as an Embassadour of a king ought to be; which he did with a great traine, making such extraordinary haste that I admired much, for I could scarce obtayne time to apparel myself in my best attire.’


It was not an auspicious beginning. For a start, in addition to his dishevelled appearance, Hawkins did not have the right gift to present to the Emperor* – an almost insurmountable solecism when meeting an eastern potentate – most of his valuables having been frisked off him, and then confiscated, by ‘that dogge Mocreb-chan’ the Emperor’s Viceroy in Surat. ‘I came with a slight present, having nothing but cloth, and that not esteemed.’13 As if this were not enough to mar his first crucial encounter with the Emperor, a Jesuit interpreter had been summoned to be present at their audience, who did not at all appreciate the presence of a Protestant intruder on his territory. And yet, despite all these difficulties Hawkins found himself received by the Emperor ‘with the most kind and smiling countenance’.


Hawkins, it turned out, had two great assets: he could speak Turkish, and therefore was able to communicate with the Emperor directly; and he had the ability to consume vast quantities of alcohol. Jahangir was among the most sophisticated and cultured of all the Mughal emperors, but he was also much addicted to the pleasures of the flesh, alcohol and opium chief among them. In Hawkins he found the perfect bingeing companion.


‘Perceuing I had the Turkish Tongue, which himselfe well understood, he commanded me to follow him unto his Chamber of Presence, being then risen from that place of Open Audience, desiring to have further conference with me,’ Hawkins recorded of his first meeting with the Emperor, ‘in which place I stayed some two hours, till the King came forth with his women.’


Jahangir took an instant shine to him. Not only did he appoint one of his captains to house him and assist the Englishman in his every need, but he gave the command that he should be brought every day into his presence. ‘According to his command, I resorted to the Court where I had daily conference with the King,’ Hawkins wrote, no doubt thoroughly enjoying the discomfiture of his Portuguese rivals. ‘Both night and day, his delight was very much to talke with me, both of the Affaires of England and other Countries, as also many demands of the West Indies, whereof hee had notice long before, being in doubt if there were any such place, till he had spoken with me, who had beene in the Countrey.’


Within weeks of arriving at the Mughal Court, Hawkins had charmed his way into the Emperor’s inner circle. On ceremonial occasions he earned himself a place of honour along with the ‘chiefest sort of nobles’, behind the ‘red rayle’, which was three steps higher than the space reserved for ordinary onlookers. ‘Many dayes and weeks being past, and I now in great favour with the King,’ he wrote, ‘to the grief of all my enemies . . . ’


Hawkins now found himself at a court that was the most sumptuous and sophisticated in the world. The luxury and scale of everything amazed him. On feast days, such as the Persian New Year, when all the nobles in the land would gather for eighteen days of festivities, he was particularly impressed by the tent that was pitched for the Emperor, ‘so rich,’ he noted, ‘that I think the like cannot be found in the world’. This tent, which he judged to be two acres in size, in which the Emperor placed his ‘Chairs of Estate’, was shaded from the sun on all sides by blinds made from wrought velvet embroidered with gold. The floor was covered with silk and gold carpets, the interiors hung with cloths adorned with gold, pearls and precious stones. In addition to the Emperor’s tent, and the adjoining harem quarters set aside for his women, was some five acres of ground on which his nobles had their own quarters, each one striving to see ‘who may adorn his roome the richest’.


Not only was Jahangir a passionate patron of science and the arts, he was also a builder of palaces and exquisite water gardens. The gardens in his numerous palaces, set with pavilions amid marble channels running with water, splashing fountains and rills, and a myriad flowers and fruit trees, were one of the wonders of the world.


He was also one of the richest monarchs in existence. In his journal, Hawkins describes in detail the great stores of treasure that the Emperor had amassed, being the combined plunder ‘of so many Kings as his forefathers had conquered’. ‘He is exceeding rich in Diamants,’ he went on, ‘and all other precious stones, and usually weareth every day a fair Diamant of great price, and that which he weareth this day, till his time be come about to weare it again, he weareth not the same; that is to say, all his faire Jewels are divided into a certain quantitie or proportion to wear every day.’ When a diamond cutter of Hawkins’s acquaintance was asked to facet a huge diamond ‘of three Mettegals and a halfe’, the man asked for a smaller ‘foul’ diamond with which to do the cutting, and was brought a chest ‘of three spannes long and a spanne and a half broad, and a spanne and a halfe deep’* overflowing with stones of all sizes and sorts.


In addition to his daily diamond fix, Jahangir also had huge stores of gold, silver and other jewels at his disposal. He was often seen wearing a great chain of pearls, ‘very fair and great’, and another of emeralds and rubies. He wore huge aigrettes of diamonds and rubies (a stone more esteemed in the East than diamonds) in his turban. In his treasury there were also ‘two hundred rich glasses; a hundred vases for wine . . . very fair and rich and set with Jewels’, and five hundred drinking cups, fifty of which were particularly valuable, being fashioned from solid rubies, emeralds and other precious stones. In addition there were ‘an infinite number’ of chains, made from pearls and precious stones, and rings set with diamonds, rubies and emeralds. Also noted were swords, scabbards, poniards, saddles, lances and kittasoles [state umbrellas] all marvellously wrought and encrusted with jewels.


On the feast of his birthday every year, Jahangir would go into ‘a very fair room’ in the treasury, fitted out with a pair of giant scales made of beaten gold. The Emperor would sit on one end of the scales, while the other was filled with gold, silver, gemstones and grain, which would later be distributed to the poor. Altogether, Hawkins estimated that the value of this treasure was ten thousand pounds.


It was not just the treasures of the counting house that impressed Hawkins. Everything at Jahangir’s court was on a scale he could never have imagined before. ‘Of horses there are twelve thousand . . . of elephants there be twelve thousand . . . of camels there be two thousand,’ he wrote breathlessly. In addition there were ten thousand oxen ‘for the cart’, one thousand mules, four hundred hunting dogs and greyhounds, four thousand hawks, ten thousand pigeons ‘for the sport of flying’, four thousand singing birds, a hundred ‘tame’ lions and ‘an infinite’ number of dromedaries.


But possibly the most impressive feature of the Mughal Court was when Jahangir, the descendant of Mongol nomads, made a progress away from the city. Hawkins described the tented cities* that accompanied the Emperor on his journeys as being so vast that they were ‘the compass of London or more’, each one of which might be attended by a retinue of as many as two hundred thousand people ‘of all sorts’. In addition to servants, courtiers and soldiers were forty thousand elephants, of which half were ‘trayned elephants for the Warre’.


But Jahangir’s was also a decadent court. Games and entertainments were cruel and bloody – one of his favourites was to pit men against wild animals – and the Emperor himself, for all his learning and refinement, was a self-confessed alcoholic and opium addict. ‘He would come forth into a private room where none can come but such as himself nominateth (for two years I was one of his attendants here.) In this place he drinketh other fine cupfuls, which is the portion that the Physicians alot him. This done he eateth opium, and then he ariseth, and being in the hight of his drinke, he layeth him down to sleepe.’ When he woke again the Emperor was so incapable that even when his supper was brought to him he could not feed himself, his food being ‘thrust into his mouth by others, and . . . then he sleepeth the rest of the night’.


In between his drinking bouts, Jahangir did ‘many idle things . . . and whatsoever he doeth, either without or within, drunken or sober, he hath writers, who by turnes set downed every thing in writing which he doth’. These writers recorded every aspect of Jahangir’s life, ‘so that nothing passeth in his life time which is not noted; no, not so much as going to the necessary; and how often he lieth with his women, and with whom; and all this is done unto this end, that when he dieth, these writings of [his] actions and speeches, which are worthy to be set downe, might be recorded in the Chronicles.’


Hawkins’s enemies, the Portuguese and the Jesuits, who until now had known uninterrupted high favour with Jahangir, had good reason to feel aggrieved. They watched with envy and amazement as the Emperor showered the upstart English ‘Embassadour’ with honours, promising him a generous stipend for each year that he stayed at the Mughal court, together with the right to a cavalcade of four hundred horses, rising to a thousand horses – an honour that would have put him on a par with an English duke.* Hawkins, the briny English sea captain, had almost overnight become ‘the Inglis Khan’ – the English Lord.


For the moment all was well; but his closeness to the Emperor was no guarantee of his safety. Hawkins remained convinced that behind the scenes ‘the Portugalls were like madde Dogges, labouring to worke my passage out of the World’. He had good reason to be alarmed. His ‘Boy’, Stephen Gravoner, died in mysterious circumstances, and his cook, Nicholas Ufflet, also became ‘extreame sick’. Hawkins himself was also beginning to feel unwell, and suspected that he was being poisoned.


The Emperor, possibly after one of his all-night drinking binges with his new friend, had a brilliant idea. He would find Hawkins a wife – ‘a white Mayden out of his Palace’ – who would look after him, and ensure his safety; ‘and by this means my meates and drinkes should be looked unto by them, and I should live without fear’.


Hawkins was in a quandary. The thought of taking a woman, sight unseen, as his wife clearly horrified him, but the gift of one of the Mughal Emperor’s ‘maydens’ was something that could not with safety be refused. At first he tried to excuse himself on the grounds that as the ‘mayden’ was likely to be a ‘Moore’, he could not think of it, ‘but if so bee there could bee a Christian found, I would accept it. At which my speech,’ he added naively, ‘I little thought a Christian’s daughter could bee found.’


No sooner were Hawkins’s words out of his mouth than the Emperor recalled to mind one Mubarik Khan, an Armenian, ‘of the race of the most ancient Christians’, who had been a captain in the service of Jahangir’s father, the mighty Akbar, and in great favour with him. Mubarik had died unexpectedly, leaving his daughter, Maryam Khan, with nothing except a few jewels to her name.


What could he do? ‘I seeing she was of so honest a Descent, having passed my word to the King, could not withstand my fortunes,’ Hawkins wrote. ‘Therefore I tooke her, and for want of a Minister, before Christian Witnesses, I marryed her.’


Against all the odds, the couple took to one another. From the few sentences that Hawkins recorded about her in his journal (and it is telling that he wrote anything about her at all) it seems that real affection blossomed between them. ‘For ever after I lived content and without fear,’ he wrote, ‘she being willing to goe where I went, and live as I lived.’14


Unfortunately, William Hawkins did not live long. He may have found personal happiness at the Mughal Court, but his professional venture ended in failure. After two and a half years kicking his heels in Agra, binge-drinking with the Emperor, court politics eventually won out: the Portuguese and their factions triumphed. Hawkins, having fallen from favour, retreated back to the coast without the promised ferman, or imperial decree, which would have granted the English ‘Articles for our Factorie’.


William and Maryam finally set sail for England in January 1611; but after a circuitous voyage via the spice islands, Hawkins died while rounding the Cape in 1613, as did most of the other men on board. He was buried in Ireland.


Maryam Hawkins, left alone among strangers, must have felt his loss deeply. She was, however, still in possession of the gemstones which had been her only inheritance. These ‘few’ jewels turned out to be a single diamond worth £2000 and smaller ones worth £400015 – immense sums – and so whether from her wealth or her personal charms, she soon succeeded in attracting another Englishman as her husband.


It is not certain when she remarried, but since her new husband was Gabriel Towerson, who had taken over as captain of the Hector, the ship on which she had been sailing back to England when William Hawkins died, she was clearly not one to waste time.


Like Hawkins, Towerson was a veteran of the East India Company. He had been on the Company’s first voyage to the Indies in 1601, and would go on to have a long, if turbulent, career with them, long after he married his Armenian wife.*


It is not known exactly what Towerson intended trading on his own account at the Emperor’s Court at Agra, but it would clearly have been impossible were it not for his wife’s connections (since Maryam’s mother had remarried a Dutch diamond cutter from Antwerp in the employ of Jahangir’s son, the future Shah Jehan, it may have been gemstones, which were highly sought-after trading commodities). Richard and Frances Steele, with their enterprising plans for designing a new water system for the Emperor’s capital city, also hoped to benefit from Maryam Towerson’s connections.


Having set the English colony at Surat on its heels, the four renegades, together with the would-be trader, Mrs Hudson, went off to try their fortunes in Agra (hotly pursued by the preacher, Mr Goulding, in his ‘Moores’ disguise). No one was happy about the situation. Even though both Richard Steele’s and Gabriel Towerson’s projects had been sanctioned by the directors in London, the Company’s merchants in India saw both these independent enterprises as unwelcome intrusions on their own attempts to secure business there; but there was nothing they could do. They consoled themselves by writing grumbling letters to one another, predicting disaster. ‘Perhaps they thought his [Gabriel Towerson’s] greatness could do them some pleasure,’ Thomas Roe wrote stuffily to William Kerridge, on 18 December 1617. ‘If so they mistake their friends, it is well if she [Mrs Towerson] can return as she came . . . ’ Edward Monox was even more scathing. ‘What he [Towerson] intends to do I think no man knows, no, not himself . . . I fear a bootless errand he is come out and of a sleeveless one he must return home . . . ’16


Maryam Towerson, however, was not going to be put off by a few whingeing English merchants. She was not some feringee trader waiting around, cap in hand, to get the attention of the Emperor. Maryam was going home.* She had connections and family at court. Moreover, she knew how things should be done.


‘[Gabriel Towerson] is here arrived with many servants, and a trumpet [trumpeter], and more show than I use,’ Roe complained. ‘If it may stead him I am glad, but I think it had been fitter to have kept the Company’s servants about their own business, for I know not when he will return, nor what his presence here will produce.’17


Unfortunately, it is not known exactly how the Towersons fared at Agra, although it is later recorded that they were ‘disappointed in their hopes’ and blamed Roe for hindering their private trade.18 Neither do we have any first-hand account of how Richard Steele’s designs for a new water system for Agra were received, although since he and his wife returned to England in 1619, they too were clearly unsuccessful. The enterprising Mrs Hudson, on the other hand, turns out to have been much luckier – and certainly more astute – than the ‘calling duck’ predicted by Thomas Roe. When she too returned to England in 1619 she had amassed a cargo of goods so considerable that the cost of freighting them alone was £30 (more than £7000 in today’s money)19, making her the first of many successful she-merchants to ply her trade in India.


Of Frances Steele’s time in India, however, some delightful details are known, thanks to the energies of Samuel Purchas, an English clergyman who devoted much of his time to collecting travellers’ tales. Purchas quizzed Richard Steele on his return from India and, more unusually, his wife too, who told him of her experiences of ‘the Women of these parts’. Frances Steele, the former lady’s maid, had found herself living in unaccustomed style in Agra, with a coach, a ‘palinke’ [palanquin], seven horses and ten servants at her command, when she came to the notice of a daughter of Abdul Rahim Khan-i-Khana, the head of Jahangir’s household and a very senior courtier. This woman, who was also the widow of one of the Emperor’s brothers, expressed a desire to see Mrs Steele, and the arrangements were soon made. As far as I know this is the first ever description of an Englishwoman’s visit to a high-ranking Indian woman in her home.




She was fetched in a close Chariot drawne by white Oxen, attended by Eunuchs; and was first brought into an open Court, in midst of which was a Tanke or Well of Water, where sate many women, slaves to Chan-Channa’s daughter, of diuers nations and complexions: some blacke, exceedingly lovely and comely of person, whose hare before did stand vp with right tufts, as if it had growne vpward, nor would ruffling disorder them; some browne, of Indian complexion; others very white, but pale, and not ruddy; many of them seemed goodly and louely, all sitting in their sight, but rich garments on the floore couered with carpets. The Lady came forth in meaner attire, whereat they all arose and did her reuerence, with their faces to the ground. Mistress Steele made her three courtsies, after the English fashion (being also in English attire) and deli-ured her a present (without which there is no visitation of great persons) and the Lady caused her to sit by her, and after discourse, entertained her with a Banquet; and began familiarity with her, continued and increased with often visitations, and rewarded with many gifts, as of womens vestments of those parts; some of which I saw, the vpper garment like a smoke, of thin Calico, vnder which they weare a paire of breeches close about the nether parts very long and slendor, loosely ruffling about their legs, of thin stuffe also.20








 


________________


*The first British woman in India for whom I can find a reference is Lady Powell, wife of Sir Thomas Powell, who was sent as James I’s ambassador to the Court of the Mughal Emperor Jahangir in 1613. They were in company with the Persian Ambassador to London, another extraordinarily colourful and intrepid Englishman, Sir Robert Shirley, one of two Catholic brothers to enter the service of Shah Abbas during the reign of Queen Elizabeth I. After many misadventures, the party landed in Sind, near modern-day Karachi, where Sir Thomas promptly died, followed almost immediately by his wife, who died in childbirth. Their baby is said to have survived them only by a few days. Robert Shirley and his extravagantly beautiful Circassian wife, Teresia, seem to have been rather more robust than the Powells, and survived the experience. Life-size double portraits of what was surely one of the most glamorous couples of the seventeenth century were painted in 1627.


*By 1618 there were five fledgling English factories in north-western India: at Agra, Ahmedabad, Burhanpur, Broach and Surat. Surat, being the only port, was the oldest and the most important.


*The English were never very successful when it came to selling their cloth, which was generally far too heavy for the hot Indian climate, but in these early days they were still trying. A letter from Surat, sent on 25 January 1612, includes a request for the following: ‘500 Venice red cloths, 100 popinjay greens and light greens, 100 straw colours, yellows and horseflesh; 100 light blues commonly called Hulings; and 200 Murries in grave and other pleasant colours.’


*In the seventeenth century the terms ‘India’ and ‘the Indies’ were interchangeable.


*The quest for the right gift to send the Mughal Emperor vexed the East India Company factors for many years. They spent a great deal of time puzzling over what best to send. A ‘small pair of organs’ was one of the top choices, ‘having here a skillful musician to play on them’; followed by ‘a very fair case of bottles filled with several sorts of the best strong waters’ – perhaps not the most felicitous idea given the Muslim court was, albeit in name only, teetotal. This was followed by two or three pairs of ‘rich strong knives’, and ‘some fair pictures’ – and ‘if you send the King’s picture it will be the more highly esteemed’. To this was added two or three ‘fair spaniels and a fair greyhound or two’, and on another occasion a sad mastiff, the only dog to have survived the journey out of an entire pack. The portrait of ‘a citizen wife’, an anonymous beauty, was requested to be sent to Agra in 1615, one of a pair: the other was of Sir Thomas Smythe, the first Governor of the EIC. When Thomas Roe met with the Jahangir, he observed the portrait of the beautiful ‘citizen wife’, together with a number of portraits of the English royal family, in pride of place in an alcove behind the Emperor’s throne.


*A span is equivalent to nine inches, so the chest would have been two and a half feet long, and just over a foot in width and height.


*These extraordinary encampments were the prototypes of those that would later become such a feature of British life in India, copied most faithfully perhaps at the Imperial Assemblage of 1877, see Part Five.


*‘For the nobility of India have their Titles by the number of their Horses, that is to say from fortie to twelve thousand, which pay belongeth to Princes and their Sonnes’ (Hawkins’ Voyages).


*Captain Towerson was murdered in 1624 in what became known as the Amboyna Massacre. This gruesome incident, which took place on the Indonesian island of Amboyna, involved ten of the East India Company men who were set upon, tortured and then killed by their rivals in the Dutch East India Company. It was typical of the brutal high-stakes surrounding the spice trade. The tortures the Dutch inflicted included throttling them, tying them to stakes, whipping them in the open market-place after washing them in vinegar and salt, and ‘tumbling’ them down rocks until their crushed and bruised ‘carcasses’ were unrecognisable. The incident became something of a cause célèbre, inspiring a play, The Tragedy of Amboyna; an equally gory painting, ‘wherein those several bloody tortures and executions is lively, largely, and artificially set forth’; and a printed pamphlet.


*It was probably for this reason that the EIC made her an exception to their rule, allowing her to travel back to India with her new husband. No one would have expected a gentlewoman to travel without either a female companion or a female servant, and it was in this way that Mrs Hudson and Frances Webb also slipped through the net. Frances Webb’s mistake seems to have been becoming a Company wife, for I can find no record of any objection to the presence of Mrs Hudson.





CHAPTER 2


Just twenty years after its foundation on New Year’s Eve 1600, the East India Company had become not only a thriving mercantile enterprise, with nearly two hundred factors spread over more than a dozen trading centres in the East, but an industrial one too. Its dockyards at Deptford and Blackwall, complete with foundries, timber yards and cordage works, were among the sights of London.


The next thirty years of the Company’s existence, however, were characterised by a series of disasters, both natural and man-made, that very nearly brought an end to its ventures altogether. First there came increasing hostilities with the Dutch; followed by a decline in the price of pepper, still the most valuable commodity being traded from the spice islands where the majority of EIC trade still lay. In India, too, disaster struck. Following one another in quick succession, both famine and floods swept through Gujarat. It is thought that over a million people died, and several times that number fled the area. Not only was there nothing to buy, but no one to buy it from. ‘We are always so bestraited that all is little enough to hold buckle and thong together,’1 lamented one factor in his report to the directors. Starving villagers picked through ‘the very excrement of beastes’, reported another factor, Peter Mundy, on his return to Surat from Agra. ‘Women were seen to roast their children, men travelling in the waie were laid hold of to be eaten.’2


By 1633, the English factory at Surat, once so thriving, had been all but wiped out. Out of the twenty-one English factors who had once worked there, just seven were still alive. Three more would be dead within days of Mundy’s return.


Nothing, however, had a more disastrous effect on the successes of the Company than the English Civil War. Their monopoly lapsed, and there was little or no investment capital available. For three years Cromwell dithered over the terms on which the Company’s charter might be reissued, and how it would be regulated. Eventually, in despair, on 14 January 1657, the directors declared for liquidation, putting the Company up for auction. They were effectively bankrupt. An asking price of £14,000 was mentioned, ‘not much to show for nearly sixty years of trade’.


However, a few months later, a new charter was issued. Slowly, trade picked up again. After Cromwell’s death in 1658, and the restoration of Charles II in 1660, another similar charter was granted. Crucially for the future of the Company, this second charter, which was to be permanent, included a grant ‘authorising the Company to fortify and colonize any of its establishments and to transport to them settlers, stores, and ammunition’.3 And if settlers were needed in these new colonies, then it went without saying that women would be needed too.


In a satisfying historical twist, it was a woman who would eventually bring this about: not an Englishwoman, but a Portuguese one. Two years after his restoration, Charles II married the Portuguese princess Catherine of Braganza. As part of her dowry she brought with her the islands of Bombay, just down the coast from Surat. And it was at Bombay that the first truly English settlement was made.


Initially the King seemed not to know what to do with his new territory. The Seven Islands of Bombay were a tiny archipelago, only twenty miles across, at the far end of the world. During the six years that Bombay belonged to the Crown, it was to bring the King nothing but trouble and expense. There was even talk of the Portuguese buying it back. Eventually, in 1668, with a metaphorical sigh of relief, he leased it to the East India Company, for a rent of £10 a year, which was to be paid ‘in gold, on 30th day of September, yearly, forever’. For the first time, the EIC was in possession of a sovereign settlement in India.


At first Bombay did not seem to be worth much, even to the Company. There was no trade there to speak of, and the merchants claimed that they had only taken it off His Majesty’s hands to ease him ‘of that great burthen and expense which the keeping of it hath hitherto beene’. But from its beginnings as an English settlement, Bombay was a very different proposition to the dissolute, all-male factory of semi-pirates at Surat. Although by mid-century the English settlement there was once more thriving, and could boast ‘the best accommodation of any in the city’, complete with lush roof gardens and a grand dining hall, its presence depended entirely on the whims of the Emperor. Although they were allowed to govern their people according to English laws, the English had never been allowed to own land or property in Surat, or anywhere else in India; and under Company laws, women – and with them any chance of family life – were still strictly forbidden. With Bombay, on the other hand, the Company found itself with a colony to manage, protect – and populate.


Shortly after he acquired Bombay, and before he passed it on to the East India Company, Charles II had sent a squadron of five ships and four hundred troops to the islands with the idea that they would build a fort and a garrison there; but when the commander of the fleet, the Earl of Marlborough (no relation to the future Duke of Marlborough), arrived it was only to become embroiled in a series of interminable wrangles with the outgoing Portuguese Governor, who had not been informed of the new arrangement, and was not going anywhere soon.


The unfortunate troops, marooned on their ships while the two governors slugged it out, were moved from pillar to post and eventually deposited on a desert island, Anjediva, near Goa, which, although it had water, measured only a mile long and three hundred paces broad. ‘Then, for most of a year, they paced the 300 paces, drank the water, and died miserably . . . Out of Marlborough’s force of 400, just 97 emaciated castaways finally sailed north and at last scrambled ashore at Bombay.’4
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